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Directors' Report 
Your directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
Directors 
The names of the Company's directors in office during the year and until the date of this 
report are set out below. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities: 
 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Dr David Brookes (MBBS, FACRRM, FAICD) 

Dr Brookes became involved in the biotechnology sector in the late 1990’s as an analyst and   

currently works as a medical practitioner and biotechnology consultant. He is an independent 

director of ASX listed AtCor Medical Holdings Ltd, and Fellow of the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors. He joined AO Energy Ltd (now RHS) Board of Directors in 2013, and has 

held the role of Chairman since. 

Dr Brookes has previously held roles as independent director of Living Cell Technologies Ltd 

(ASX listed) from 2007 to 2010, Chairperson from 2009 to 2010, and Chairman-Director of 

Innovance Ltd (NSX listed) from 2006 until 2010. 

Dr Brookes graduated from Adelaide University in 1983, is a Fellow of the Australian College 
of Rural and Remote Medicine, and has a Diploma from the Royal Australian College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. 
 
Managing Director 
Dr Michelle Fraser (PhD, Grad Dip Sci Tech Comm) 

Dr Fraser joined Reproductive Health Science as the inaugural chief executive officer in 
September 2007 and became a member of the Reproductive Health Science Pty Ltd Board in 
May 2012.  In this role, she was responsible for key achievements including securing venture 
capital investment and leveraging State and Commonwealth Government Grants, in-licensing 
and out-licensing activities, intellectual property management and building the Reproductive 
Health Science commercial and clinical network. 

Previously Business Development Manager at Bio Innovation SA, Dr Fraser provided 
commercialisation advice and assistance to bioscience companies, universities, research 
institutes and teaching and research hospitals, and was also part of the Bio Innovation SA 
team responsible for the establishment of venture capital fund Terra Rossa Capital.  Dr Fraser 
has previously held the role of chief executive officer for two biotechnology start-up 
companies; Viswa Biotechnology Pty Ltd and BenEphex Biotechnologies Pty Ltd. Dr Fraser is 
currently a director of Westbourne Park Auto Repairs Pty Ltd and is a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Dr Fraser has a PhD in molecular biology and a Graduate Diploma of Science and Technology 
Commercialisation, both from the University of Adelaide.  Dr Fraser has graduated from the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
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Non-Executive Directors: 
Mr Johnathon Matthews (BEc, B Comm, LLB) 

Mr Matthews is the General Manager of The Pipette Company Pty Ltd (TPC), an Adelaide 
based specialist manufacturer and supplier of high quality micropipettes used in IVF 
procedures. Over the last decade he has actively contributed to developing and managing 
TPC’s growth, with its products now being supplied to hospitals and IVF clinics in over 40 
countries worldwide. 

Prior to joining TPC, Mr Matthews worked at the Australian Treasury on microeconomic policy 
reform, the ASX where he was responsible for the ASX’s relationship with over 100 listed 
companies, and at the Commonwealth Bank as a corporate analyst within its institutional 
banking division. 

Mr Matthews holds a Bachelor of Economics, a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of Laws 
from The University of Adelaide and has completed postgraduate diplomas in Applied Finance 
& Investment and Legal Practice. He is also a graduate member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (AICD). 
 
Emeritus Professor Colin Matthews AO – (alternate for Johnathon Matthews) 

Dr Matthews has been a director and shareholder of Reproductive Health Science since its 

establishment.  He was a founding director of The Pipette Company Pty Ltd and currently a 

director of Flinders IVF.   

Dr Matthews has also held the roles of founding director of Repromed Pty Ltd, a University 

owned Adelaide-based IVF clinic, and Chair of the Research Committee and Board Member 

of the Channel 7 Research Foundation. 

Dr Matthews was appointed an Officer of the Order of Australia in 2013 for services to 
reproductive medicine and is a Distinguished Alumni of The University of Adelaide, and 
holds Life Memberships for The Fertility Society of Australia and The European Society of 
Human Reproduction and Embryology. 
 
Ms Sue MacLeman (BPharm, MMktg, MLaw, FACPP, FAICD)  

Ms MacLeman has enjoyed a distinguished career in biotechnology medical technology and 
pharmaceuticals, having worked initially in hospital pharmacy roles before moving to the 
pharmaceuticals industry in development and commercialisation roles with Merck, Amgen 
and Bristol-Myers Squibb. She has also been senior executive, CEO and a Board member of a 
number of publicly-listed companies in both the United States and Australia.   

Ms MacLeman is currently the Managing Director of the Medical Technologies and 
Pharmaceuticals Industry Innovation Growth Centre (MTPConnect) and also a non executive  
director of Oventus Medical Ltd. 
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Mr Fabian Dwyer (BPharm, MBA, MRPharmS, FAICD), resigned as Director 21 April 2016 
 
Mr Dwyer has a background as an accomplished health care leader with deep management 
experience and has acted in a consulting capacity to a number of biotechnology companies. 

After building a strong pharmacy background, including working for Baxter in Australia and 
the UK, Fabian completed an MBA (Bradford University) before returning to Australia to 
work in senior sales and marketing roles with several pharmaceutical companies. He then 
went on to lead Quintiles and Innovex, the largest providers of clinical research and 
commercialisation services to the Australian healthcare sector, for 7 years. 

More recently Fabian was the Australian and New Zealand Managing Director of IMS Health 
Pty Ltd and then of Bausch + Lomb Pty Ltd. During his time in the industry, Fabian has 
served on a number of industry/government committees and taskforces and served on the 
Board of Medicines Australia in 2007. 
 
Chief Financial Officer/Company Secretary 

Mr Ray Ridge (BA (Acc), CA, GIA (cert)) 

Mr Ridge has held senior management positions in finance, compliance and commerce 

across a range of industries. He is currently CFO and Company Secretary for dual ASX- and 

AIM-listed Thor Mining PLC as well as CFO for ASX-listed Southern Gold Ltd. Mr Ridge has 

broad corporate experience including previous appointments as General Manager 

Commercial & Operations with the Utilities, Government and Power Business Group of 

Parsons Brinckerhoff, CFO of the Merchandise Division of Elders Ltd and a Senior Manager 

at Arthur Andersen. 
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Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 
 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of 
Reproductive Health Science Limited were: 
 

 Number of ordinary shares Number of unlisted options 

D Brookes 1,854,774 1,400,000 

M Fraser 422,063 3,000,000 

J Matthews1 11,960,700 675,000 

C Matthews (alternate)1 11,960,700 - 

S MacLeman 24,500 675,000 

111,960,700 shares are held jointly by J Matthews and C Matthews. 

 
Principal activities 
Reproductive Health Science Ltd’s principal activities are the development and marketing of 
its biotechnology technologies, including its lead products EmbryoCellect™ for PGS (Pre-
implantation Genetic Screening) and DOPlify™ WGA (Whole Genome Amplification kit).  
 
Financial Results 
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group incurred a loss of $1,809,225 (31 

December 2015: $1,635,179).  

Dividends 
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company in the period and up to the date of this 
report. The Directors do not recommend that any amount be paid by way of dividend for 
the financial period ended 31 December 2016. 
 
Review and results of operations 
The Group has launched a new product, expanded its services offering, and continued to 
progress the commercialisation and marketing of its products.   A summary of key 
developments, during the period 1 January 2016 through to the date of this Directors 
Report, is as follows: 
 
Expansion of IVF product offering to include NGS (“Next Generation Sequencing”) 

 In mid 2016, RHS launched a new product, DOPlify™.  DOPlify™ captures RHS’ exclusive 

know-how for the lysis and WGA (“Whole Genome Amplification”) of a single or small 

number of cells providing a solution for multiplying the limited DNA in a single cell for a 

range of downstream applications.  Whilst the product has been extensively validated 

using single or small numbers of fibroblasts or lymphocytes as well as IVF embryo 

biopsies, proof of principle is currently being generated for other limited template inputs 

including circulating tumour cells, circulating fetal cells and cell free DNA all obtained 

from liquid biopsies such as blood samples. 

 RHS has since optimised a complete NGS workflow and now offers PGS services using 

either its microarray PGS product EmbryoCellect™ or using NGS incorporating DOPlify™. 
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 Added a Key Opinion Leader, Dr Tristan Hardy, to the Clinical and Scientific Advisory 
Committee, Chaired by Prof Colin Matthews.  Dr Hardy has been a long-time 
collaborator with RHS and has a particular interest and expertise in the use of NGS in the 
reproductive genetics field. 
 

Expansion of IVF Services Offering 

 In vitro fertilisation (“IVF”) provider Flinders Fertility publicised the early success of their 

new PGS service offered in collaboration with RHS using EmbryoCellect™. Flinders 

Fertility advised that the use of RHS’ PGS service had resulted in a significant 

improvement in clinical pregnancy rates for the initial small group of IVF patients 

introduced to the service, all of whom had previous unsuccessful IVF histories (refer to 

ASX Announcement 4th April 2016). 

 With the launch of DOPlify™, RHS has expanded its PGS services to include the option of 

requesting testing using the EmbryoCellect™ microarray or by NGS using DOPlify™, 

providing the full suite of PGS testing platforms. RHS is broadening its Australian 

customer base with this expanded offering and importantly, offering these two products 

together allows RHS to efficiently screen an embryo for changes in chromosome 

number.  RHS is also generating proof of principle in the lead up to validation of the 

detection of smaller genetic changes or the inheritance of a genetic disease of targeted 

interest (for example Pre-implantation Genetic Diagnosis in the IVF application).  

 Flinders Fertility re-located to the Thebarton TechInSA Incubator during the 2016 year, 

collocating with RHS. The re-location was completed in late November 2016 and RHS’ 

PGS service provision was rapidly reinstated.  The co-location with RHS provides a 

unique opportunity for scientific exchange and direct clinical feedback on the RHS 

service provision and the clinical benefits of PGS. 

 RHS commenced PGS testing services to its third Australian IVF provider. 

 The Company is holding technical and commercial discussions with select overseas 
clinical groups on the establishment of regional PGS capabilities using RHS products, and 
is also assessing requests to establish interstate PGS services in Australia. 

 
Expansion of target markets for DOPlify™ 

 The Company has commenced reciprocal evaluations with significant overseas 

companies in NGS to explore the capabilities of DOPlify™ as a part of a range of single 

cell NGS workflows.  Some of these evaluations involve the testing of DOPlify™ as a way 

to increase the amount of DNA available to input into existing multi-cell analysis 

products to expand the applications into the growing single cell market.  

 RHS filed a provisional patent on combined whole genome amplification and single gene 

specific PCR.  This provides a unique and valuable approach to combined 

Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis (PGD) and PGS.  This addresses an unmet market 

need in the IVF application and serves as a model for expansion into broader 

applications, including cancer. 

 DOPlify™ was chosen for evaluation in an independent single cell WGA benchmarking 

study conducted by researchers at the University of Ghent in Belgium.  We look forward 

to sharing the results as soon as the publication is printed. 
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Further development and commercialisation of EmbryoCellect™ 

 RHS released a report on the validation of EmbryoCellect™ using euploid and aneuploid 

single cell and 5-10 cell aliquots.  This study is the most comprehensive of its type 

published and demonstrates the high degree of accuracy of this RHS product.  The 

report is available on the RHS website (www.rhsc.com.au). 

 The Company received trademark approval for EmbryoCellect™ in the US and Australia. 

 RHS are now optimising protocol improvements aiming at achieving an EmbryoCellect™ 
test turn-around time of 5 hours.  This will allow PGS to be performed on the same 
working day as embryo biopsy, significantly accelerating the time to result and providing 
ample time for a fresh transfer or to determine which embryos to vitrify (freeze) in 
advance. 

 
Market Opportunities in the United States 

 With expiry of IP rights that prevented RHS from entering the USA market until July 

2016, RHS is now entering this market with both products.  This includes formal 

discussions with significant service providers who perform genetic testing services for 

IVF clinics in the USA. 

 The USA marketing strategy was augmented by RHS exhibiting at the American Society 

for Reproductive Medicine (“ASRM”) meeting in Salt Lake City in October 2016.  This 

provided an important opportunity for RHS to advance its USA marketing strategy and 

release data on its internal positive benchmarking results comparing  DOPlify™ against 

competing WGA kits. 

 In late January 2017, RHS appointed a US-based Business Development Executive,  Mr. 

Kamran Tahamtanzadeh. Mr. Tahamtanzadeh has significant experience in the field of 

gentic analysis including liquid biopsy.  Mr. Tahamtanzadeh recently represented RHS at 

the Precision Medicine World Conference 2017 in Silicon Valley. 

(http://www.pmwcintl.com/2017sv/). 

 
Other Market Development Activities 

 The Company enhanced our global distributor network with the addition of UK-based 

Parallabs. 

 RHS appointed a European-based global marketing consultant in late January 2017 to 

assist with the marketing strategy for RHS’ products. 

 The Company presented to key clinics in Japan in January 2016, and following this, held 

the third EmbryoCellect™ training course in March 2016, attended by clinics from Japan.  

Currently the Japanese Society of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (JSOG) is conducting a 

PGS trial, the outcome of which will determine whether PGS will be allowed in Japan. 

 In August 2016 following the launch of DOPlify™, RHS initiated interactive web-based 

training courses in the use of the kit.  A number of these webinars have been provided 

to potential clients in various international jurisdictions. These training courses are an 

effective and low cost avenue to teach the kit protocols, receive immediate feedback 

from target customers and develop market awareness for DOPlify™. 

 RHS presented and exhibited at key national and international reproductive health 

conferences, including a Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis International Society (PGDIS) 

meeting in Bologna May 2016, the European Society for Human Reproduction and 
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Embryology (ESHRE) conference held in Helsinki July 2016, the Fertility Society of 

Australia meeting in Perth in September 2016, the American Society of Reproductive 

Medicine (ASRM) meeting held in Salt Lake City in October 2016, and presented to key 

clinics in the UK in December 2016. 

 RHS was selected to present at the 9th Annual Biotech Showcase 9-11 January in San 

Francisco.  Attended by more than 3,000 delegates from over 1,800 companies, RHS was 

one of 400 presenting Companies.  A copy of the presentation is available at 

http://www.rhsc.com.au/uploads/general/RHS_Presentation_Biotech_Showcase_Jan_2

017.pdf 

 
Other income 

 Received $278,104 for the 2016 year Research & Development Tax Offset.  We expect to 
lodge our claim for the 2016 year before the end of March 2017. 

 Lodged a claim under the Export Marketing Development Grant.  RHS received the 
maximum $40,000 first instalment in November 2016 for the claim related to thte 
2015/16 year (having also received $23,927 for the second and final instalment relating 
to the 2014/15 year). 

 
Capital Raising 

 The Group raised a total of $1,515,077, before costs, through a placement of 7,000,000 
shares at $0.075 per share, through Taylor Collison Limited, to sophisticated investors on 
8 September 2016, and a fully underwritten one for five non-renounceable rights issue 
at an offer price of $0.075 per share, completed on 13th October 2016. 

 
During the period ended 31 December 2016, the Group incurred a loss of $1,809,225 (31 
December 2015: $1,635,179 loss).   
 
Changes in the state of affairs 
During the financial year there were no significant change in the state of affairs of the 
Group, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 
 
Events subsequent to balance date 
There has not arisen any matters or circumstances, since the end of the financial year, which 
significantly affected or could affect the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of the Group in future years. 
 
Likely developments and expected results  
The Group continues to progress product development and commercialisation of its patent 
portfolio.  As the Group is still at the point of commercialisation and development, no 
comment on the expected results from these efforts are included in this report. 
 
Environmental regulation and performance 
The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under 
either Commonwealth or State legislation.  The Group however believes that it has 
adequate systems in place for the management of any future environmental regulations. 
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Options awarded, vested and lapsed during the year 

At the date of this report, the following options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company 
were on issue: 
 

Issue Date Expiry Date Exercise 

Price 

Balance 

at 1 Jan 

2016 

Net 

granted, 

exercised, 

expired 

during year 

Balance 

at 31 Dec 

2016 

Vested 

during the 

year 

Vested and 

exercisable 

21/09/2012 20/09/2016 $2. 01 179,105 (179,105) - - - 

02/04/2014 31/12/2016 $0.25 900,000 (900,000) - - - 

02/04/2014 31/12/2016 $0.30 900,000 (900,000) - - - 

02/04/2014 31/12/2016 $0.35 900,000 (900,000) - - - 

02/04/2014 31/12/2016 $0.32 3,000,000 (3,000,000) - - - 

17/04/2014 16/04/2019 $0.35 150,000 (150,000) - - - 

12/06/2015 31/12/2016 $0.32 1,100,000 (1,100,000) - - - 

12/06/2015 12/06/2020 $0.25 200,000 (200,000) - - - 

01/09/20151 31/12/2016 $0.32 300,000 (300,000) - - - 

31/05/2016 31/05/2020 $0.21 - 4,250,000 4,250,000 4,250,000 4,250,000 

31/05/2016 31/05/2020 $0.25 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 

   7,629,105 (1,879,105) 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 

 
1At the 31st December 2015, the Company had an obligation to issue 300,000 unlisted options to a 
Director, as part of their terms of engagement.  These options were subject to shareholder approval at 
the next Annual General Meeting. The options were never vested, as the Director resigned on 21 April 
2016 prior to the scheduled Annual General Meeting. 

 

On 31 May 2016, the Company issued a total of 5,750,000 unlisted options to Directors.  
These options were approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting 
held 25 May 2016.  4,250,000 of the total number of unlisted options can be exercised at 
any time prior to 31 May 2020 and have an exercise price of $0.208. The remaining 
1,500,000 of the total number of unlisted options can be exercised at any time prior to 31 
May 2020 and have an exercise price of $0.248. 
 
On 23 December 2016, the Company cancelled and or voluntarily forfeited and removed 
from the company’s register of securities the following unlisted employee share options: 
150,000 options exercisable at $0.348, and 200,000 options exercisable at $0.248. 
 
The exercise price of existing options to subscribe for RHS shares were reduced by $0.002, 
effective 30 September 2016, as a result of a one for five rights issue, in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the options. 
 
None of the options contain vesting conditions and hence have been expensed in the 
Company’s statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
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No shares were issued during the year as a result of an exercise of options. 
 
Subsequent to 31 December 2016, the Company issued 1,000,000 unlisted options to 
employees under the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan.  The options were issued on 
10 January 2017, have an exercise price $0.208, and expire 31 May 2020. 
 
Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers 
During or since the financial year, the Company has paid premiums in respect of a contract 
insuring all the directors of Reproductive Health Science Limited against legal costs incurred 
in defending proceedings for conduct other than: 

a) A wilful breach of duty. 
b) A contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001, as permitted by 

section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid was $13,452. 
 
Indemnification of auditors 
To the extent permitted by the law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst 
and Young, as part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by a third 
party arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has been made to 
indemnify Ernst and Young during or since the financial year. 
 
Directors' meetings 
The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held 
during the year and the number of meetings attended by each director were as follows: 
 

 Directors' Meetings Audit Committee 

Meetings 

Rem. & Nom. 

Committee 

 Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible 

David Brookes 11 

9 

9 

8 

8 

3 

11 2 2 3 3 

Michelle Fraser 11 11 - - - - 

Johnathon Matthews 11 11 2 2 1 1 

Colin Matthews (alt) 10 11 - - - - 

Sue MacLeman 11 11 1 1 3 3 

Fabian Dwyer 3 3 1 1 1 1 
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Remuneration report (audited) 
This Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2016 outlines the remuneration 
arrangements of the Company and the Group in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its regulations. This information has been audited as 
required by section 308(3C) of the Act. 
 

Introduction 
The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management 
personnel (KMP) who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent. 
 
The names and positions held by Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Group 
during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 

i. Directors 
David Brookes  (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Michelle Fraser (Managing Director) 
Johnathon Matthews (Non-Executive Director) 
Sue MacLeman (Non-Executive Director) 
Fabian Dwyer  (Non-Executive Director, resigned 21 April 2016) 
Colin Matthews (Alternate Director for Johnathon Matthews) 
 
ii. Key management personnel 
Ray Ridge  (CFO/Company Secretary) 
 
Remuneration philosophy  
The Board is responsible for determining remuneration policies applicable to directors and 
senior executives of the entity. The broad policy is to ensure that remuneration properly 
reflects the individuals' duties and responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in 
attracting, retaining and motivating people with appropriate skills and experience. At the 
time of determining remuneration, consideration is given by the Board to the Group's 
financial performance, and the Company’s share price performance over the year. 
 
Overview of company performance 
The table below sets out information about the entity’s earnings and movements in 
shareholder wealth for the past five years up to and including the current financial year. 
 
 2016 2015 2014 20131 20121 

NPAT ($’000) (1,809) (1,635) (6,091) N/A N/A 

Share price at year end ($) 0.10 0.13 0.16 N/A N/A 

Basic EPS (cents) (2.80) (2.96) (14.02) N/A N/A 

1Figures are not applicable prior to the year 2014 as the company was listed on 2 April 2014.  
No dividends have been paid in respect of shares in the last three years. 
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Use of Remuneration Consultants  
During the financial year, there were no remuneration recommendations made in relation 
to key management personnel for the Company by any remuneration consultants.  
 
Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2016 Annual General Meeting  
Reproductive Health Science Ltd’s motion in relation to the approval of 2015 remuneration 

report passed with a vote total of more than 75%. The Company did not receive any specific 

feedback at the AGM on its remuneration report.  

 

Director remuneration arrangements 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with 
the ability to attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is 
acceptable to shareholders. 
 
The Company’s constitution and the ASX listing rules specify that the Non-Executive Director 
(NED) fee pool shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting. The last 
determination disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 7 March 2014 approved an 
aggregate fee pool of $500,000 per year. 
 
The Board will not seek any increase for the NED pool at the 2017 AGM. 
 

Contracts 
Dr Michelle Fraser  
The Company and Dr Fraser entered into an Executive Service Agreement (Agreement) on 
19 December 2013. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company has employed Dr Fraser as 
Managing Director for a period of two years commencing on 2 April 2014. The contract was 
renewed on 16 December 2015. Dr Fraser’s current salary rests at $240,000 plus compulsory 
employer superannuation of 9.5% per annum. A performance review of Dr Fraser’s contract 
is undertaken annually.   
 
Either party may terminate the Agreement on three months’ notice to the other, and the 
Company may, subject to obtaining shareholder approval if required, pay to Dr Fraser three 
months remuneration in lieu of notice. 
 
Structure 

The remuneration of NEDs consists of directors’ fees and consulting fees. NEDs do not 
receive retirement benefits. The remuneration of NEDs (and the Managing Director) for the 
year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 is detailed in the table below. 
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Table 1: Remuneration of Directors 
 

Directors Financial 

Year 

Salary 

and fees          

$ 

Short 

term 

benefits

$ 

Share 

based 

payments

$ 

Post-

employment 

Superannuation 

$ 

Total 

$ 

D Brookes 
2016 54,795 - 76,523 5,205 136,523 

2015 54,795 - 5,150 5,205 65,150 

M Fraser 
2016 240,000 - 156,779 19,616 416,395 

2015 259,300 - - 19,066 278,366 

J Matthews 
2016 31,964 - 36,896 3,036 71,896 

2015 31,964 - - 3,036 35,000 

S MacLeman 
2016 31,964 - 36,896 3,036 71,896 

2015 31,964 - 6,180 3,036 41,180 

F Dwyer1 
2016 10,000 - (4,500) - 5,500 

2015 10,000 - 4,500 - 14,500 

C Matthews 
2016 5,000 - - - 5,000 

2015 5,000 - - - 5,000 

R Ridge2 
2016 - - - - - 

2015 - - - - - 

D Stephens3 
2016 - - - - - 

2015 20,000 - - - 20,000 

FY 16 Directors  373,723 - 302,594 30,893 707,210 

FY 15 Directors  413,023 - 15,830 30,343 459,196 

 
1 At the 31st December 2015, the Company had an obligation to issue 300,000 unlisted options to Mr 
Dwyer, as part of his terms of engagement.  These options were subject to shareholder approval at the 
next Annual General Meeting. As these options did not contain any vesting conditions, other than 
shareholder approval, the assessed $4,500 fair value of the options was expensed in the Company’s 
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2015.  As Mr Dwyer resigned 
effective 21 April 2016, prior to the Company’s Annual General Meeting, the $4,500 has been reversed 
from the Company’s statement of comprehensive income in the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
2 Mr Ridge was appointed as CFO and Company Secretary on 11 May 2015.  Mr Ridge is not employed by 

the Company.  His services are engaged through a service agreement with an entity associated with Mr 

Ridge. The Company paid $87,335 for these services during the 2016 year (2015: $73,383). 

3Mr D Stephens resigned as a Director effective 25 May 2015.  
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Table 2: Option holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 

 
Balance at    

1 Jan 16 

Expired 

during 2016 

Granted 

during 2016 

Balance at 

31 Dec 16 

D Brookes2 1,250,000 (1,250,000) 1,400,000 1,400,000 

M Fraser2 2,700,000 (2,700,000) 3,000,000 3,000,000 

J Matthews2 600,000 (600,000) 675,000 675,000 

C Matthews (alt) - - - - 

S MacLeman2 600,000 (600,000) 675,000 675,000 

F Dwyer1 (resigned 21 April 2016) 300,000 (300,000) - - 

R Ridge - - - - 

 5,450,000 (5,450,000) 5,750,000 5,750,000 

 
1At 1 January 2016, the Company had an obligation to issue 300,000 unlisted options to a Director, as 
part of their terms of engagement.  These options were subject to shareholder approval at the next 
Annual General Meeting. The options were never vested, the Director resigned on 21 April 2016 prior to 
the scheduled Annual General Meeting. 

 
2On 31 May 2016, the Company issued a total of 5,750,000 unlisted options to Directors.  These options 
were approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting held 25 May 2016.  4,250,000 
of the total number of unlisted options (at a fair value per option of $0.0546) can be exercised at any 
time prior to 31 May 2020 and have an exercise price of $0.208. The remaining 1,500,000 of the total 
number of unlisted options (at a fair value per option of $0.0499) can be exercised at any time prior to 31 
May 2020 and have an exercise price of $0.248. 

 

None of the options contained vesting conditions and hence have been expensed in the 
Company’s statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
No shares were issued during the year as a result of an exercise of options. 
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Table 3: Shareholdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel 

 
Balance at 

1 Jan 16 

Rights 

Issue1 

Rights Issue 

underwriting2 

Acquired 

on market 

Balance at 

31 Dec 16 

D Brookes 1,044,298 208,860 601,616  1,854,774 

M Fraser 351,719 70,344   422,063 

J Matthews/ C Matthews 8,964,556 1,792,912 1,203,232  11,960,700 

S MacLeman 10,000 2,000  12,500 24,500 

F Dwyer (resigned 21 

April 2016) 
- - - - - 

R Ridge - - - - - 

 10,370,573 2,074,116 1,804,848 12,500 14,262,037 

 
1Fully underwritten Rights Issue completed on 7 October 2016. The Company issued 6,505,700 shares at 
$0.075 per share, raising $487,927 before capital raising costs. Valid applications received for fully paid 
ordinary shares pursuant to a non-renounceable pro-rata Rights Issue on the basis of one new share for 
every five shares held.  
 
2The total shortfall under the Rights Issue was 6,695,333 new shares at a cost of $0.075 per share. The 
securities forming the shortfall were allocated to Taylor Collison Limited on 13 October 2016 as the 
underwriter of the Rights Issue, in accordance with its Underwriting Agreement with RHS. Dr D Brookes 
and Mr J Matthews (jointly with Professor C Matthews), participated in the shortfall shares as partial sub-
underwriters to Taylor Collison Limited. 
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Auditor independence declaration 

We have obtained the following independence declaration from our auditors, Ernst & 
Young. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 

 
 
Dr David Brookes 
Chairman 
 
24 February 2017 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2016 
   31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2015 
    $   $  

     

Sales Revenue   76,158 73,363 

Cost of Goods Sold   (25,565) (34,117) 

Gross Profit    50,593 39,246 

     

Other income 6  365,218 360,399 

Total Income   415,811 399,645 

     

Expenses     

Salaries and benefits 7  (1,003,965) (1,090,467) 

Consultants and professional fees   (187,253) (203,821) 

Research and development   (136,725) (100,356) 

Rent and property expenses   (131,293) (145,858) 

Depreciation and amortisation   (76,570) (82,596) 

Travel costs   (150,975) (137,042) 

Other expenses 8  (215,011) (236,294) 

Finance costs   (10,186) (11,081) 

Doubtful debts   (10,464) - 

Share based payments   (302,594) (27,309) 

     
Loss before income tax expense   (1,809,225) (1,635,179) 

     

Income tax benefit/(expense) 9  - - 

     

Loss from continuing operations   (1,809,225) (1,635,179) 

     
Loss attributable to members of the parent entity (1,809,225) (1,635,179) 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Total comprehensive loss for the year   (1,809,225) (1,635,179) 

 
Loss per share:   Cents Cents 

Basic earnings per share 21  (2.80) (2.96) 

Diluted earnings per share 21  (2.80) (2.96) 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
 

As at 31 December 2016 
   31 December 31 December 

   2016 2015 

 Note   $   $  

     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents 10  1,358,449 1,455,483 

Trade and other receivables 11  24,763 72,965 

Inventories   15,522 - 

Other current assets 12  2,000 12,471 

     
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   1,400,734 1,540,919 

     
NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment 13  310,260 329,344 

Intangible assets 14  60,328 66,519 

Other non-current assets   10,400 10,400 

     
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   380,988 406,263 

     
TOTAL ASSETS   1,781,722 1,947,182 

     
CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Trade and other payables 15  171,755 251,667 

Deferred Revenue 16  18,200 27,400 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17  47,632 35,159 

Provisions   175,649 147,089 

     
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   413,236 461,315 

     
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17  115,753 121,425 

Provisions   21,578 14,058 

     
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   137,331 135,483 

     
TOTAL LIABILITIES   550,567 596,798 

     
NET ASSETS   1,231,155 1,350,384 

     
EQUITY     

Contributed equity 18  13,627,001 12,239,599 

Share based payments reserve 19  1,089,279 786,685  

Accumulated losses   (13,485,125) (11,675,900) 

     
TOTAL EQUITY   1,231,155 1,350,384 F
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
 

   Issued Share based  

   capital payments Accumulated Total 

   ordinary reserve losses equity 

 Note   $   $   $   $  

       

       
Balance at 1 January 2016   12,239,599 786,685 (11,675,900) 1,350,384 

Comprehensive income       

Loss for the year   - - (1,809,225) (1,809,225) 

Other comprehensive income/(expense)  - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period  - - (1,809,225) (1,809,225) 

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and other transfers  

Issue of share capital 1,515,077 - - 1,515,077 
Costs associated with the issue of shares (127,675) - - (127,675) 
Share based payments 19  - 302,594 - 302,594 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 1,387,402 302,594 - 1,689,996
  

Balance at 31 December 2016   13,627,001 1,089,279 (13,485,125) 1,231,155 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (Continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

   Issued Share based  

   capital payments Accumulated Total 

   ordinary reserve losses equity 

 Note   $   $   $   $  

       

       
Balance at 1 January 2015   11,016,655 759,376 (10,040,721) 1,735,310 

Comprehensive income       

Loss for the year   - - (1,635,179) (1,635,179) 

Other comprehensive income/(expense)  - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period  - - (1,635,179) (1,635,179) 

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and other transfers  

Issue of share capital 1,308,150 - - 1,308,150 
Costs associated with the issue of shares (85,206) - - (85,206) 
Share based payments 19  - 27,309 - 27,309 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 1,222,944 27,309 - 1,250,253 

Balance at 31 December 2015   12,239,599 786,685 (11,675,900) 1,350,384 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 

  Year Year 

  ended ended 

  31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2015 

   $   $  

 Note   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  64,153 86,668 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,829,542) (1,905,810) 

Interest paid  (10,186) (11,081) 

Interest received  16,872   40,644 

R&D Tax benefit received  278,104 431,992   

EMDG grant received  103,927 - 

Other income  8,000 - 

    
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10 (1,368,672) (1,357,587) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of intangible assets (71,558) - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (51,552) (116,525) 
Proceeds from the sale of assets 545 31,466 

    
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (122,565) (85,059) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from issue of shares   1,515,077   1,308,150 

Payment of transaction costs for issue of shares  (127,675) (85,206) 

Proceeds from borrowings  42,143 190,481  
Finance lease repayments  (35,342) (33,897) 

    

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,394,203 1,379,528 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (97,034) (63,118) 

Cash at the beginning of the year  1,455,483 1,518,601 

    
CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 10 1,358,449  1,455,483 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
 

1. Corporate information 
The consolidated financial statements of Reproductive Health Science Limited and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) for the year ended 31 December 2016 were authorised 
to be issued, in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 24 February 2017. 
 
Reproductive Health Science Limited is a for profit company limited by shares, incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded. The Group’s principal activities 
are described in the Director’s Report. 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
2.1. Basis of preparation 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting 
Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board. The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis. 
 
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the 
previous period. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, being the functional 
and presentation currency for the Group. 
 
2.2. Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policy, disclosures, standards and interpretations 
 
(i) Changes in accounting policies 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this Annual Report are consistent with 
those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2015. 
 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations 
The Group applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments which are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The new standards and 
amendments have not had a material impact on the financial statements presented for the 
year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
AASB 2015-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal 
of AASB 1031 Materiality 
The Standard completes the AASB’s project to remove Australian guidance on materiality 
from Australian Accounting Standards. 
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AASB 1057: Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), 
grouped where they are the same. Accordingly, paragraphs 5 and 22 respectively specify the 
application paragraphs for Standards and Interpretations in general. Differing application 
paragraphs are set out for individual Standards and Interpretations or grouped where 
possible. 
The application paragraphs do not affect requirements in other Standards that specify that 
certain paragraphs apply only to certain types of entities. 
 
AASB 2015-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle 
The subjects of the principal amendments to the Standards are set out below: 
AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: 

• Changes in methods of disposal – where an entity reclassifies an asset (or disposal 
group) directly from being held for distribution to being held for sale (or visa versa), 
an entity shall not follow the guidance in paragraphs 27–29 to account for this 
change. 

 AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 
• Servicing contracts - clarifies how an entity should apply the guidance in paragraph 

42C of AASB 7 to a servicing contract to decide whether a servicing contract is 
‘continuing involvement’ for the purposes of applying the disclosure requirements in 
paragraphs 42E–42H of AASB 7. 

• Applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to condensed interim financial 
statements - clarify that the additional disclosure required by the amendments to 
AASB 7 Disclosure–Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities is not 
specifically required for all interim periods. However, the additional disclosure is 
required to be given in condensed interim financial statements that are prepared in 
accordance with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting when its inclusion would be 
required by the requirements of AASB 134. 

 AASB 119 Employee Benefits: 
• Discount rate: regional market issue - clarifies that the high quality corporate bonds 

used to estimate the discount rate for post-employment benefit obligations should 
be denominated in the same currency as the liability. Further it clarifies that the 
depth of the market for high quality corporate bonds should be assessed at the 
currency level. 

AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting: 
• Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’ - amends AASB 

134 to clarify the meaning of disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim 
financial report’ and to require the inclusion of a cross-reference from the interim 
financial statements to the location of this information. 
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AASB 2015-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101 
The Standard makes amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements arising 
from the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project. The amendments are designed to further 
encourage companies to apply professional judgment in determining what information to 
disclose in the financial statements. For example, the amendments make clear that 
materiality applies to the whole of financial statements and that the inclusion of immaterial 
information can inhibit the usefulness of financial disclosures. The amendments also clarify 
that companies should use professional judgment in determining where and in what order 
information is presented in the financial disclosures. 
 
AASB 2015-9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Scope and Application 
Paragraphs [AASB 8, AASB 133 & AASB 1057] 
This Standard inserts scope paragraphs into AASB 8 and AASB 133 in place of application 
paragraph text in AASB 1057. This is to correct inadvertent removal of these paragraphs 
during editorial changes made in August 2015. There is no change to the requirements or 
the applicability of AASB 8 and AASB 133. 
 
(iii) Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or 
amended that potentially impact the Group but are not yet effective and have not been 
adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2016 are 
outlined below: 
 
AASB 9: Financial Instruments 
AASB 9 (December 2014) is a new standard which replaces AASB 139. This new version 
supersedes AASB 9 issued in December 2009 (as amended) and AASB 9 (issued in December 
2010) and includes a model for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking 
‘expected loss’ impairment model and a substantially-reformed approach to hedge 
accounting. 
AASB 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. However, the 
Standard is available for early adoption. The own credit changes can be early adopted in 
isolation without otherwise changing the accounting for financial instruments. 
Classification and measurement 
AASB 9 includes requirements for a simpler approach for classification and measurement of 
financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. There are also some changes 
made in relation to financial liabilities. 
 
The main changes are described below. 
 
Financial assets 

a. Financial assets that are debt instruments will be classified based on (1) the objective 
of the entity's business model for managing the financial assets; (2) the 
characteristics of the contractual cash flows. 

b. Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return 
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on investment can be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or 
recycling on disposal of the instrument. 

c. Financial assets can be designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss 
at initial recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or 
recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or 
recognising the gains and losses on them, on different bases. 

 
Financial liabilities 
Changes introduced by AASB 9 in respect of financial liabilities are limited to the 
measurement of liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) using the fair 
value option. 
Where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities, the change in fair value is to be 
accounted for as follows: 

• The change attributable to changes in credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income (OCI) 

• The remaining change is presented in profit or loss 
 
AASB 9 also removes the volatility in profit or loss that was caused by changes in the credit 
risk of liabilities elected to be measured at fair value. This change in accounting means that 
gains or losses attributable to changes in the entity’s own credit risk would be recognised in 
OCI. These amounts recognised in OCI are not recycled to profit or loss if the liability is ever 
repurchased at a discount. 
 
Impairment 
The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model that will 
require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. Specifically, the new Standard 
requires entities to account for expected credit losses from when financial instruments are 
first recognised and to recognise full lifetime expected losses on a more timely basis. 
 
Hedge accounting 
Amendments to AASB 9 (December 2009 & 2010 editions and AASB 2013-9) issued in 
December 2013 included the new hedge accounting requirements, including changes to 
hedge effectiveness testing, treatment of hedging costs, risk components that can be 
hedged and disclosures. 
Consequential amendments were also made to other standards as a result of AASB 9, 
introduced by AASB 2009-11 and superseded by AASB 2010-7, AASB 2010-10 and AASB 
2014-1 – Part E. 
AASB 2014-7 incorporates the consequential amendments arising from the issuance of AASB 
9 in Dec 2014. 
AASB 2014-8 limits the application of the existing versions of AASB 9 ((AASB 9 (December 
2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010)) from 1 February 2015 and applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on after 1 January 2015. 
 
AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces the existing revenue recognition 
standards AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue and related Interpretations 
(Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, Interpretation 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers, 
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Interpretation 131 Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services and 
Interpretation 1042 Subscriber Acquisition Costs in the Telecommunications Industry). AASB 
15 incorporates the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and developed jointly with the US 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). 
AASB 15 specifies the accounting treatment for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers (except for contracts within the scope of other accounting standards such as 
leases or financial instruments).The core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle 
by applying the following steps: 

(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

AASB 2015-8 amended the AASB 15 effective date so it is now effective for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. Early application is permitted. AASB 2014-5 
incorporates the consequential amendments to a number Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. AASB 2016-3 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 amends AASB 15 to clarify 
the requirements on identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent 
considerations and the timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence and provides 
further practical expedients on transition to AASB 15. 
The Group is yet to assess the impact on accounting for future revenue contracts under 
AASB 15. 
 
AASB 16: Leases 
The key features of AASB 16 are as follows: 
Lessee accounting 

• Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of 
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 

• Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value 
basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments (including 
inflation-linked payments), and also includes payments to be made in optional 
periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, 
or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease. 

• AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for lessees. 
• Lessor accounting 
• AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 

117. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or 
finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently. 

• AASB 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will 
improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual 
value risk. 
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AASB 16 supersedes: 
(a) AASB 117 Leases 
(b) Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease 
(c) SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives 
(d) SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
(a) Lease 

The new standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
Early application is permitted, provided the new revenue standard, AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, has been applied, or is applied at the same date as AASB 16. 
 
AASB 2016-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recognition of Deferred 
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses [AASB 112] 
This Standard amends AASB 112 Income Taxes (July 2004) and AASB 112 Income Taxes 
(August 2015) to clarify the requirements on recognition of deferred tax assets for 
unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. 
 
AASB 2016-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107 
This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require entities 
preparing financial statements in accordance with Tier 1 reporting requirements to provide 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. 
 
AASB 2016-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification and 
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions [AASB 2] 
This standard amends AASB 2 Share-based Payment, clarifying how to account for certain 
types of share-based payment transactions. The amendments provide requirements on the 
accounting for: 

• The effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-
settled share-based payments 

• Share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax 
obligations 

• A modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes 
the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled 

 
IFRIC Interpretation 22: IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration 
IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration, which 
addresses the exchange rate to use in transactions that involve advance consideration paid 
or received in a foreign currency, is effective 1 January 2018. 
 
The Group has assessed that these amendments are unlikely to have any material effect for 
the Group. 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



30 
 

2.4. Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and 
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an 
investee if and only if the Group has: 

 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee) 

 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

 
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 
an investee, including: 

 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 

 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and 

 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date 
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets 
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for 

as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 

 De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests 

 De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity 

 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received 

 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained 

 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss, and 

 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or 

loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
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(b) Current versus non-current classification 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on 
current/non-current classification. 
 
An asset as current when it is: 

 Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 

 Held primarily for the purpose of trading 

 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 

A liability is current when: 

 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 

 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period. 

 
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
 
(c) Foreign currency translation 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is 
also the Parent’s functional currency. For each entity the Group determines the functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using 
that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and has elected 
to recycle the gain or loss that arises from using this method. 

 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their 
respective functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for 
recognition. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 
 
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit 
or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the 
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other 
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to 
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive 
income. 
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Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-
monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss 
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value 
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively). 
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at 
the reporting date. 
 

Group companies 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into dollars at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss 
are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
(d) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is 
being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes 
or duty. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue 
arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing 
latitude and is also exposed to inventory and credit risks. The specific recognition criteria 
described below must also be met before revenue is recognised. 
 
Interest income 
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest-bearing financial 
assets classified as available-for-sale, interest income is recorded using the effective interest 
rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or 
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest income is 
included in finance income in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. Revenue 

from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.  

The company does not provide any warranties to its customers. 
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Rendering of services 

Revenue from the  provision of services is recognised by reference to the stage of 

completion. Stage of completion is measured by reference to the timing of the final reports 

provided to the client.  

 
(e) Taxes 
Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and 
not in the statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in 
the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes 
at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

 when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; or 

 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates or interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the 
carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

 when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset 
is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 
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Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not 
in profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
Tax consolidation 

Reproductive Health Science Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed 
an income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. Each entity in the 
group recognises its own current and deferred tax liabilities, except for any deferred tax 
assets resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits, which are immediately assumed by 
the parent entity. The current tax liability of each group entity is then subsequently 
assumed by the parent entity. The group notified the Australian Tax Office that it had 
formed an income tax consolidated group to apply from 2 April 2014. The tax consolidated 
group has entered a tax sharing agreement whereby each company in the group contributes 
to the income tax payable in proportion to their contribution to the net profit before tax of 
the tax consolidated group. 
 
(f) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the 
property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if 
the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment 
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets 
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when a major 
inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 
equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 

Property, plant and equipment  2 – 8 years 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is de-
recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.  
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The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if 
appropriate. 
 

(g) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated 
intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related 
expenditure is reflected in the profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is 
incurred. 
 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life. The 
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite life is 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as the expense category that 
is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. 
 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or Cash Generating Unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated  
by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators. 
 
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the asset is de-recognised. 
 
Patents and licenses 
The Group owns or is in the process of applying to obtain trademarks and patent protection.  
The patent protection is in respect of a single family of patents relating to a method of 
comparing chromosomes from two different karyotypes and methods for detecting 
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chromosomal abnormalities using comparative genomic hybridisation and microarrays. The 
method is useful in reproductive medicine and has particular applications in the pre-
implantation genetic screening (PGS) of an embryo or egg prior to implantation.  
 

As a result, those patents and trademarks are assessed as having a finite useful life. The 
useful life estimated in relation to each of the Company’s patents is the period commencing 
with notification of patent registration through to scheduled patent expiry in each 
jurisdiction.  The useful life of the Company’s patents ranges from 9 to 13 years.   The useful 
life of trademark application and registration costs is 20 years.  Amortisation of patents and 
trademarks is calculated on a straight line basis. 
 
Research and development costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual 
project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be 
available for use or sale 

 Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset 

 How the asset will generate future economic benefits 

 The availability of resources to complete the asset 

 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development, and 

 The ability to use the intangible asset generated. 
 
Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation of the asset begins when development is complete and the asset is available 
for use. It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. Amortisation is recorded 
in cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment 
annually. 
 
(h) Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the 
substance of the arrangement at the inception date. The arrangement is assessed for 
whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not 
explicitly specified in an arrangement. 
 
Group as a lessee 
Finance leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of 
the leased item to the Group, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
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A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
(i) Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
 

(j) Financial Instruments 
Recognition and initial measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the 
date that the Group commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date 
accounting is adopted). 
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except 
where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case 
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. 
 

Classification and subsequent measurement 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, or cost. 
 
Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at 
initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted 
for any cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method. 
 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
 

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) 
of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the 
carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or 
loss. 
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The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture 
entities as being subject to the requirements of Accounting Standards specifically applicable 
to financial instruments. 
 
(i) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. 
 
Loans and receivables are included in current assets, where they are expected to mature 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are 
reported in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 
 
(k) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result 
of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and 
that outflow can be reliably measured. 
 
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
 
(l) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are reported within short-term borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
 

(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to 
suppliers. 
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(n) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

(o) Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, 
adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings 
per share to take into account the weighted average number of shares assumed to have 
been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 

(p) Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year. 
 

(q) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements 
based on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a 
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic 
data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 
 

Key estimates 

Impairment  
The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions 
and events specific to the Company that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 
Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which 
incorporate various key assumptions. 
 
Share-based payments  
Estimating the fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determination of 
the most appropriate valuation model, which depends on the terms and conditions of the 
grant. This estimate also requires determination of the most appropriate inputs to the 
valuation model including the expected life of the share option or appreciation right, 
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. For the measurement of 
the fair value of equity-settled transactions with employees at the grant date, the Group 
uses a binomial model. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for 
share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 19. 
 

3. Operating Segments 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on internal reports that are reviewed 
and used by the Board of Directors in assessing performance and determining the allocation 
of resources. 
 
The Group only operates in one business segment being the product development and 
commercialisation of Biotechnology technologies. Therefore, all segment assets and 
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liabilities, and the segment result, relate to the one business segment and consequently no 
detailed segment analysis has been prepared. 

4. Information about subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include: 

Name 
Principal 

Activities 

Country of 

incorporation 

% Equity interest 

2016 2015 

RHS Subsidiary Pty Ltd 

Biotechnology 

technology 

development 

Australia 100% 100% 

AO Energy (Singapore) 

Pte. Ltd. 

Dormant 

subsidiary 
Singapore 100% 100% 

AO Energy (Asia) Pty Ltd 
Dormant 

subsidiary 
Australia 100% 100% 

Parent of the group 
The parent entity of the Group is Reproductive Health Science Ltd and is based and listed in 
Australia. 

5. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise of borrowings and trade and other 
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations 
and to provide guarantees to support its operations. The Group’s principal financial assets 
include trade and other receivables and cash and short-term deposits that derive directly 
from its operations.  
 
The Group is not exposed materially to market risk, credit risk, foreign exchange risk or 

liquidity risk. The Board takes ultimate responsibility for managing the financial risks of the 

Group. 

 

Management assessed that the fair values of cash, trade receivables, trade payables and 

other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term 

maturities of these instruments. The fair value of interest bearing liabilities approximates 

the carrying value, as there has not been a significant change in market rates. 

 
Trade receivables 
Group does not have a material risk in trade receivables due ordinarily only having other 
receivables relating to receipts from the Australian Taxation Office in relation to GST refunds 
or other sundry receivables from time to time. 
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Capital risk management  
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to stakeholders. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity 
attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and 
accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 18 and 19. 
 
Proceeds from share issues are used to fund the Group’s commercialisation and product 

development of its biotechnology patent portfolio. 

6. Other income 
  31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 
  $ $ 

    
Interest income  15,187    32,333 
Research and development tax incentive  278,104 274,615 
Export Marketing Development Grant  63,927 40,000 
Deposits received  8,000 - 
Gain on sale of assets   13,451 

  365,218 360,399 

7. Salaries and benefits 
Wages, salaries and other remuneration 
expenses 

 
925,145 1,004,841  

Superannuation expense  78,820  85,626 

  1,003,965 1,090,467 

8. Other expenses  
Share registry expenses  10,229 12,608 
ASX fees  28,717 21,291 
IT expenses  21,891 35,261 
Repairs and maintenance  2,881 10,985 
Insurance expenses  30,607 24,388 
Shareholder General Meeting expenses  5,300 7,745 
Subscriptions and memberships  14,482 20,475 
Telephone  5,055 6,705 
Foreign exchange loss / (gain)  (1,485) 3,825 
Patent & Trademark annual license fees  28,041 31,524 
Client Training  4,312 25,321 
Other expenses  64,981 36,166 

  215,011 236,294 
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9. Income tax 
  31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 
  $ $ 

Accounting (loss) before income tax  (1,809,225) (1,635,179) 

    
At Australia’s statutory income tax rate of 
30% (2015: 30%) 

 (542,768) (490,554) 

Adjust for the tax effect of:    
Other non-allowable items  276,357 11,814 
Non assessable income  (83,431) (82,385) 
Unrecognised tax assets  349,842 561,125 

Income tax (benefit)  - - 

 

Reproductive Health Science Ltd and its 100% owned resident Australian subsidiaries 

comprise a tax consolidated group.  Reproductive Health Science Ltd is the head entity of 

the tax consolidated group. 

 

At 31 December 2016, the Group has total tax losses of the Australian companies within the 

Group of $7,709,054 (2015: $6,262,744) that are available indefinitely to offset against 

future taxable profits of the Group.  These losses include $3,163,000 tax transferred to the 

tax consolidated group on the acquisition of RHS Subsidiary Pty Ltd on 2 April 2014.  The 

utilisation of these losses acquired will be restricted to the available fraction of 0.853. 

 

A deferred tax asset shall only be recognised for the carryforward of unused tax losses to 

the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which 

unused tax losses can be utilised.  The total deferred tax asset of $2,313,000 (2015: 

1,879,000) arising from the carried forward tax losses has not been recognised as meeting 

the probability criteria. 

 

The taxation benefits of tax losses and timing differences not brought to account will only 

be obtained if: 

 assessable income is derived of a nature and amount sufficient to enable the benefit 

from the deductions to be realised 

 conditions for deductibility imposed by the law are complied with, and 

 no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the 

deductions. 
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10. Cash and cash equivalents  
  31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
  $ $ 

Cash in bank and on hand  1,358,449  1,455,483 

  1,358,449  1,455,483 

 

Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net 
cash flows from operations 

   

Accounting loss after income tax  (1,809,225) (1,635,179) 

 

Adjustments for:    
Depreciation and amortisation  76,570 82,596  
Share based payments  302,594 27,309  
Gain/(loss)  on sale of property plant and 
equipment 

 1,348 (13,451) 

Provision for doubtful debts  10,464 - 
    
Changes in assets and liabilities:    
Decrease/ (increase) in trade and other 
receivables 

 37,737 129,169  

Decrease/ (increase) in interest receivable 
and prepayments 

 (5,051) 22,640 

(Decrease)/ increase in trade and other 
payables 

 (9,989) (73,369) 

(Decrease)/ increase in deferred revenue  (9,200) 27,400  
(Decrease)/ increase in provisions  36,080 75,298 
Net cash (used in) operating activities  (1,368,672) (1,357,587) 

11. Trade and other receivables 
  31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
  $ $ 

Trade Receivables  16,900 14,095 
Provision for doubtful debt (charged for 
the year) 

 (10,464) - 

  6,436 14,095 
GST Receivable  14,856 13,154 
Export Marketing Development Grant  - 40,000 
Other Receivables  3,471 5,716 

  24,763 72,965 

Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally received within 30 days. F
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Movements in the provision for doubtful debts were as follows: 

  31 Dec 16 
$ 

31 Dec 15 
$ 

Balance at 1 Janury  - - 
Charge for the year  (10,464) - 
Amounts written off  - - 

Balance at 31 December  (10,464) - 

 

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is, as follows: 

  Neither 
past 

due nor 
impaired 

Past due but not impaired 

 Total < 30 
days 

$ 

30–60 
Days 

$ 

61–90 
Days 

$ 

91–120 
Days 

$ 

> 120 
Days 

$ 
2016 6,436 6,436 - - - - - 

2015 14,095 1,320 - 3,575 - 9,200 - 

12. Other current assets 
  31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
  $ $ 

Interest receivable  - 1,685 
Prepayments  2,000 8,398 
Raw Materials  - 2,388 

  2,000 12,471 

13. Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment - Cost    
Opening cost 1 Jan  692,282 645,318 
Additions   51,552  54,861 
Disposals  (6,248) (7,897) 

  737,586 692,282 

 

Accumulated depreciation 
Opening balance 1 Jan 

 
362,938 

 
293,267 

Depreciation expense  68,743 75,054 
Disposals  (4,355) (5,383) 

  427,326 362,938 

 

Net book value of property and 
equipment 

 310,260 329,344 

    

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



45 
 

  31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
  $ $ 

    
Freehold land - Cost    
Opening cost 1 Jan  - 15,500 
Disposal  - (15,500) 

  - - 

 

Net book value of property, plant and 
equipment 

 310,260 329,344 

    

 

14. Intangible Assets 

Balance at the beginning of the year  66,519 1,770 
Additional patent costs  1,635 72,291 
Amortisation expense  (7,826) (7,542) 
Impairment to intangible asset   - 

  60,328 66,519 

 

The remaining intangible asset balance at 31 December 2016 relates to costs associated 

with obtaining patents and trademarks in a number of jurisdictions.  As described in Note 2, 

these costs are being amortised over the term of the patents and trademarks, being the 

period from notification of approval to expiry. 

 

15. Trade and other payables 
Trade payables 50,839 25,445  
Other payables 120,916 226,222  

 171,755 251,667 

16. Deferred Revenue 
Balance at the beginning of the year 27,400 - 
Deferred during the year - 27,400 
Released to the statement of 
comprehensive income 

(9,200) - 

 18,200 27,400 

 

Current 18,200 27,400 
Non-current - - 

 18,200 27,400 
 

The balance of deferred revenue represents the receipt of payments for which the Company is yet to 

provide the goods or services as at the end of year.  Once the goods or services are provided, the 

deferred revenue is released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as revenue earned. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



46 
 

17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
  31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
  $ $ 

Obligations under finance lease    
Current  47,632 35,159 
Non-current  115,753 121,425 

Total  163,385 156,584 

 
On 30 January 2015, the Group entered into a finance lease with its financier for the sum of 
$190,481. After leasing an additional piece of equipment on 14 April 2016, the Group signed 
a revised finance lease agreement, receiving additional $42,143, bringing the loan amount, 
at that time, to the total sum of $178,516. The finance lease provides for fixed monthly 
payments, over a 3.5 year period, comprising principal and an effective interest rate of 
7.22%.  Future minimum lease payments under the finance lease are as follows: 
    
Within one year  57,873 44,978 
After one year but less than five years  125,390 134,933 
More than five years  - - 

Total minimum lease payments  183,263 179,911 
Less amounts representing finance charges  (19,878) (23,327) 

Present value of minimum lease payments  163,385 156,584 

 
 The Group’s obligations under the finance lease are secured by the lessor’s title to the 
leased asset. 

18. Contributed equity 
 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 
 $ $ 

79,206,198 Ordinary fully paid shares  
(2015: 59,005,165) 

13,627,001 12,239,599 

 13,627,001 12,239,599 

 

 
Number of 

shares 
Consolidated 

$ 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 59,005,165 12,239,599 

Placement1 7,000,000 525,000 

Rights issue2 at $0.075 6,505,700 487,927 

Rights issue underwriting3  6,695,333 502,150 

Costs associated with the issue of shares - (127,675) 

 79,206,198 13,627,001 

 
1 On 5 September 2016, the Company issued 7,000,000 shares at $0.075 per share, to sophisticated 
investors raising $525,000 before capital raising costs.  
 

2Fully underwritten rights issue completed on 7 October 2016. The Company issued 6,505,700 shares at 
$0.075 per share, raising $487,927 before capital raising costs. Valid applications received for fully paid 
ordinary shares pursuant to a non-renounceable pro-rata rights issue on the basis of one new share for 
every five shares held.  
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3The total shortfall under the Rights Issue was 6,695,333 new shares at a cost of $0.075 per share. The 
securities forming the shortfall were allocated to Taylor Collison Limited on 13 October 2016 as an 
underwriter of the Rights Issue in accordance with its Underwriting Agreement with RHS. Issue of 
shortfall shares (being fully paid ordinary shares) to the underwriter and sub-underwriters pursuant to a 
non-renounceable pro-rata rights issue on the basis of one new for every five shares held. 
 

During the year of 2016, the Company has issued a total of 20,201,033 at $0.075 per share, 
raising $1,515,077 before capital raising costs. Total costs associated with the capital raise 
for the period amounted to $127,675. 

 

19. Share Option Reserve 
  31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
  $  $ 

Share based payments reserve   1,089,279 786,685 

 1,089,279 786,685 

 

Share based payments reserve     
Opening balance 1 January 786,685 759,376 
Fair value of share options issued 307,094 27,309 
Fair value of share options forfeited (4,500) - 

 1,089,279 786,685 

 

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of options issued to directors of the 

Company and other parties. 

In accordance with shareholder approval at the Company’s Annual General Meeting dated 
25 May 2016, 4,250,000 unlisted options were issued to the directors of the Company.  
These options are exercisable at a price of $0.208, at any time on or after 1 January 2017 
and expire 31 May 2020.  
 
The options were valued using a binomial option valuation method, using the following 
assumptions: 

Volatility Rate:  68% 
Estimated life 4 years 
Risk free rate 1.83% 
Number of steps  1,000 

 
The total value pertaining to these options using the above assumptions amounted to 
$232,306. None of the options contained vesting conditions and hence have been expensed 
in the Company’s statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 
2016. 
 
A further 1,500,000 unlisted options were issued to a director of the Company, in 
accordance with shareholder approval at the Company’s Annual General Meeting dated 25 
May 2016.  These options are exercisable at a price of $0.248, at any time on or after 1 
January 2017 and expire 31 May 2020. 
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The options were valued using a binomial option valuation method, using the following 
assumptions: 

Volatility Rate:  68% 
Estimated life 4 years 
Risk free rate 1.83% 
Number of steps  1,000 

 
The total value pertaining to these options using the above assumptions amounted to 
$74,788. None of the options contained vesting conditions and hence have been expensed 
in the Company’s statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 
2016. 
 
As at 1 January 2016, the Company had an obligation to issue 300,000 unlisted options to a 
director, pursuant to their terms of engagement dated 1 September 2015.  These options 
were subject to shareholder approval at the next Annual General Meeting.  As these options 
did not contain any vesting conditions, other than shareholder approval, the assessed 
$4,500 fair value of the options was expensed in the Company’s statement of 
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2015.  As the director resigned 
effective 21 April 2016, prior to the Company’s Annual General Meeting, the $4,500 has 
been reversed from the share premium reserve and the Company’s statement of 
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 

20. Related party disclosures 
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 

 31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
 $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 373,723 413,023 
Share based payments 302,594 15,830 
Post-employment benefits 30,893 30,343 

Total compensation 707,211 459,196 

 

Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties  
Donald Stephens is a former director for Reproductive Health Science Ltd, was a consultant 
with HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Ltd. Donald Stephens resigned as a Company Director on 1 
September 2015, and therefore HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Ltd was not a related party at any 
time during 2016 year. During the 2015, HLB Mann Judd (SA) Pty Ltd received professional 
fees of $66,352 including GST.  The fees were received for accounting, taxation, secretarial 
and transactional services provided. A total of $nil including GST was outstanding at 31 
December 2016 (2015: $nil). 
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21. Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year 

attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that 

would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary 

shares. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per 

share computations: 

    Consolidated 

    2016 2015 

     $   $  

      

Net loss attributable to ordinary equity 

holders of the parent entity: 

Continuing operations 

 

 (1,809,225) 

 

(1,635,179) 

      

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

for basic earnings per share 

64,685,418   55,318,682 

Effect of dilution      

Share options    N/A N/A 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

adjusted for the effect of dilution 
64,685,418  55,318,682 

 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary 

shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial 

statements. 

In accordance with AASB 133 ’Earnings per Share’, as potential ordinary shares may only 

result in a situation where their conversion results in an increase in loss per share or 

decrease in profit per share from continuing operations, no dilutive effect has been taken 

into account. A total of 5,750,000 unlisted options, as outlined in the Directors’ Report, 

could potentially dilute basic EPS in the future.  
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22. Events after the reporting period 
There has not arisen any matters or circumstances, since the end of the financial year, which 

significantly affected or could affect the operations of the Group, the results of those 

operations, or the state of the Group in future years. 

23. Auditors remuneration 
 31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
 $ $ 

An audit or review of the financial report 28,000 25,000 
Other audit fees - - 

 28,000 25,000 

24. Parent entity information 
Current assets  1,397,688 1,537,753 
Non-current assets 310,258 329,343 

Total assets 1,707,946 1,867,096 

 

Liabilities    
Current liabilities (407,849) (311,878) 
Non-current liabilities (137,331) (204,835) 

Total liabilities (545,180) (516,713) 

 

Issued capital 54,234,376 52,846,974 
Accumulated losses (54,719,339) (52,841,726) 
Reserve 1,647,729 1,345,135 

Total shareholders’ equity 1,162,766 1,350,383 

 

Loss of the parent entity (1,877,613) (1,635,180) 

Total comprehensive loss of the parent entity (1,877,613) (1,635,180) 

25. Going concern basis of accounting 
In preparing the annual report, the Directors have made an assessment of the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern. As described in the Directors’ Report, the Company 
remains in the start-up phase of operations and is forecast to operate at an operating loss 
and cash flow deficit for the immediate forecast period. In considering their position, the 
Directors have had regard to the current cash reserves and forecasts of cash expenditure 
and income; together with the likelihood of being able to raise funds in future should a need 
arise. The Directors have concluded there are reasonable grounds to believe the Company is 
a going concern and will be able to continue to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable. 
 
Should the Group not achieve its forecast trading result or not raise funds of a level or 
timing as required, there is material uncertainty as to whether the Group will realise its 
assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at amounts stated in 
the financial report. 
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Directors' declaration 
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Reproductive Health Science Limited, I 
state that: 
 
In the opinion of the directors: 
 
a) The financial statements and notes of Reproductive Health Science Limited for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 

December 2016 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 

ii. complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
 

b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as disclosed in Note 2.2; and 
 

c) Subject to the matters detailed at Note 25 there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 
This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the 
directors by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
On behalf of the board 
 
 

 
 
Dr David Brookes 
Chairman 
 
24 February 2017 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Reproductive Health Science Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Reproductive Health Science Limited (the Company), including
its subsidiaries (the Group),  which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2016, the consolidated  statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the
Directors’ Declaration.

In our opinion:

the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 and of its
consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia; and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

Without modification to our opinion, we draw attention to Note 25 in the financial report which
describes the principal conditions that raise doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The conditions set forth in Note 25, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore, the consolidated entity may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

121 King William Street
Adelaide  SA  5000  Australia
GPO Box 1271 Adelaide  SA  5001

 Tel: +61 8 8417 1600
Fax: +61 8 8417 1775
ey.com/au
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current year.  These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Report section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying financial report.

1. Carrying value of non-current assets

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Under Australian Accounting Standards, an entity shall assess
throughout the reporting period whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, an entity shall estimate the recoverable
amount of the asset.  Impairment indicators were present at
31 December 2016 and impairment testing was undertaken.
The principal indicators of impairment were the start up
nature of the business and ongoing trading losses.

At 31 December 2016 the company had non-current assets of
$0.37m comprised of $0.06m trademarks and licenses and
$0.31m of plant and equipment.

The impairment testing process is complex and highly
judgmental and is based on assumptions and estimates that
are affected by expected future performance and market
conditions.

In obtaining sufficient audit evidence we evaluated the
assumptions and methodologies used by the Group and the
estimates made. In particular we considered those estimates
and judgments relating to the forecast cash flows and the
inputs used to formulate those cash flows, such as sales
activity, operating costs, discount rates and inflation rates.

Specifically, we evaluated the discounted cash flow models
and other data supporting the Group’s assessment. In doing
so, we:

► understood activity with regard to the development and
marketing of the current product range;

► understood forecasted sales activity, current board
approved budgets and historical operations;

► assessed the Group’s historic ability to meet cash flow
forecasts;

► evaluated discount rates with reference to market
research, market practice, market indices and historical
performance; and

► tested the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash
flow models.

We also considered the adequacy of the financial report
disclosures regarding impairment and the recoverable amount
of the Group’s assets.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

2. Share Options

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Group awarded options in the current year to the
directors. The Group has performed calculations to record the
related share based payment expense in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Due to the complex and judgmental estimates used in
determining the valuation of the share based payments, we
consider the Group’s calculation of the share based payment
expense to be a key audit matter. The Group uses assumptions
in respect of future market and economic conditions. Refer to
Note 19 to the financial statements for the share based
payment expenses recognised for the period ended 31
December 2016 and related disclosure.

We determined that the Group uses the Binomial model in
valuing the options issued to directors during the period and
involved our valuations team to assess the input assumptions
used in the calculation including the share price of the
underlying equity, interest rate, volatility, dividend yield, time
to maturity (expected life), grant date and granting criteria and
average granting percentage.

We also assessed the adequacy and completeness of the
disclosure in Note 19.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report

The Directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the
information in the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2016, but does not include
the financial report and the auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the directors report (including the
remuneration report) prior to the date of our auditor’s report. We expect to obtain the Chairman’s
letter to Shareholders, Managing Director’s letter to Shareholders, the Corporate Governance
statement and additional ASX information after the date of our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If,
based upon the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of the
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

· Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial report.  We also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the disclosures in
the financial report about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify the opinion on the financial report.  However, future events or conditions may cause an
entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated to the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 17 of the Directors' Report for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Reproductive Health Science Limited for the year ended
31 December 2016, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Ernst & Young

Mark Phelps
Engagement Partner
Adelaide
24 February 2017F
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